IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

FIRST STREET FOR BOOMERS & BEYOND, INC.; AITHR DEALER, INC.;

Petitioners,

V.

Ш

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT, IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF CLARK, STATE OF NEVADA, AND THE HONORABLE CRYSTAL ELLER, DISTRICT JUDGE,

Respondents,

And

14

I. INTRODUCTION

Preliminarily, Petitioners adopt, and reference this Court to the facts outlined in Petitioners' Petition for Writ of Mandamus (see "Petition" at 1:3 to 5:7) and Petitioners' Answering Brief to Cunnison's Petition for Rehearing (see "Answering Brief" at 1:3 to 2:26). As noted in the Petition and Answering Brief, early during discovery, counsel for Plaintiffs and Petitioners engaged in several EDCR 2.34 conferences regarding discovery issues. However, Plaintiffs never once filed a motion to compel against Petitioners before either the Discovery Commissioner or the district court. As an obvious result, no discovery order has ever been entered against Petitioners in this case and Petitioners have not violated any discovery orders.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, Plaintiffs filed a Renewed Motion to Strike Petitioners' Answer to Plaintiffs' Fourth Amended Complaint¹, which was granted by the Honorable Richard F. Scotti. Specifically, the district court stated that, "pursuant to NRCP 16.1(e)(3), the Court strikes First Street's Answer as to liability...". (PA1005-1009). *The Minute Order does not cite any other basis for the sanction and does not even mention NRCP 37*. On December 31, 2020, Plaintiffs prepared an Order, presumably to reflect the Court's ruling as laid out in

A discussion of the arguments contained within the Motion and Opposition are discussed in the Petition at 4:10 to 6:8 and in the Answering Brief at 3:13 to 4:20.

its over four-page Minute Order, which was submitted to the district court, and which became the Sanctions Order. *See* Petitioners' Appendix, Tab 10 (PA1010-1024).

In that Order, Plaintiffs embellished the district court's ruling, adding reference to EDCR 7.60 and *Young v. Johnny Ribeiro Bldg., Inc.*, 106 Nev. 88 (1990) where the Court never mentioned EDCR 7.60 in its Minute Order and only noted that it had "considered each of the factors set forth in *Young v. Johnny Ribeiro...*", not that the sanctions were premised on the district court's inherent authority as discussed in that case. *See* PA1005. Significantly, neither the Minute Order nor the Sanctions Order cite to any specific discovery order that Petitioners violated. The district court ignored the overwhelming case law holding that discovery sanctions may only be imposed upon a violation of a court order and that when such sanctions are as severe as striking a party's pleading, the party should be allowed an evidentiary hearing in accordance with principles of Due Process.

Following the Sanctions Order, Petitioners petitioned this Court for a Writ of Mandamus on the basis that the sanctions were inappropriate as Petitioners had not violated any discovery order. Real Parties In Interest ("Cunnison") filed an Answering Brief in which they argued in detail (1) a minute order issued by the district court constituted a discovery order, the violation of which warranted sanctions (see Cunnison's Answering Brief, pp. 10-12); and (2) the "district court

also imposed sanctions under NRCP 16, NRCP 26, NRCP 37, and its inherent equitable powers to control abusive litigation practices." *Id.*, p. 27.

This Court's Panel agreed with Petitioners that "[u]nder NRCP 16.1's plain language, for the district court to sanction a party's conduct, the party must have disobeyed an order entered under NRCP 16.3..." See Order Granting Petition for Writ of Mandamus, p.3. The Panel explained that "the district court ignored the plain language of NRCP 16.1(e)(3) when it imposed sanctions on petitioners without first entering, and petitioners violating, an NRCP 16.3 order compelling discovery." Id., pp. 3-4.

Cunnison subsequently filed a Petition for Rehearing, *arguing again* that (1) the minute order of the district court constituted a discovery order (*see* Petition for Rehearing, pp. 17-21); and (2) the district court did not base its sanction order solely on NRCP 16.1(e)(3), but that the district court's sanction order was also premised on NRCP 37(c), EDCR 7.60, and the court's inherent powers to sanction as described in *Young v. Johnny Ribeiro Bldg., Inc.*, 106 Nev. 88 (1990). *See* Petition for Rehearing, pp. 5-17.

Petitioners filed an Answering Brief to the Petition for Rehearing, noting that

Cunnison's arguments had already been made and briefed extensively before this

Court by Cunnison in their Answering Brief to Petitioner's Petition for Writ of

Mandamus. Cunnison merely rehashed arguments from below and did not present

an appropriate basis for rehearing. See generally Petitioners' Answering Brief to Petition for Rehearing.

After denying Cunnison's request, Cunnison filed an En Banc Petition for Reconsideration. Cunnison's primary arguments are (1) this Court's Order Granting Petition for a Writ of Mandamus of March 15, 2022 conflicts with *Bahena v. Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co.*, 126 Nev. 243, 250-51, 235 P.3d 592, 597 (2010) ("Bahena I"); and (2) this Court's Order Granting Petition for a Writ of Mandamus overlooked aspects of the district court's sanctioning order and "incorrectly found that, NRCP 16.1(e)(3) is the only rule the district court relied on as a basis for imposition of sanctions in its order."

Essentially, Cunnison disagrees with the Panel's Writ of Mandamus and is asking this Court to reconsider arguments it has already heard from Cunnison in their Answering Brief to the Petition for Writ of Mandamus and again in their original Petition for Rehearing. En Banc Reconsideration is not appropriate, and Cunnison's arguments lack the same merit they lacked before. Cunnison's En Banc Petition for Rehearing should be denied.

II. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Whether the issues raised in the En Banc Petition for Reconsideration meet the standard for rehearing under NRAP 40A(a) and NRAP 40(c)(1).

///

///

III. ARGUMENT

A. En Banc Reconsideration Is Not Warranted Under NRAP 40A(a) Or NRAP 40(c)(1).

En banc reconsideration of a decision of a panel of the Supreme Court is not favored and ordinarily will not be ordered except when (1) reconsideration by the full court is necessary to secure or maintain uniformity of decisions of the Supreme Court or Court of Appeals, or (2) the proceeding involves a substantial precedential, constitutional or public policy issue.

NRAP 40A(a).

1. The Panel Order Granting Petition for a Writ of Mandamus Is Not Contrary to Bahena I.

Cunnison argues that as a result of the Panel Order, "if during trial a judge makes an oral ruling, neither party has to obey the ruling unless it's reduced to a formal written order...". See En Banc Petition for Reconsideration, p. 1. Cunnison further argues that "under the Panel's Order, a party has no reason to affirmatively produce any evidence in litigation because only after violation of a written order will any consequences attach." Id.

These two arguments, while rather hyperbolic, completely lack merit. The issue for this Court involves an alleged violation of a *discovery order* that was never issued, not an oral order during trial. Moreover, there is a formal procedure, outlined in NRCP 16.1, that a party may follow to compel production of documents and seek sanctions of an opposing party for alleged failure to voluntarily produce documents during discovery. That procedure requires a party to file a motion to compel where

the propriety of the party's claims can be fleshed out and an order can then be issued. NRCP 16.1(e)(3) provides that if a party violates such a discovery order, then sanctions may be warranted. This is a well established procedure that specifically addresses the calamities Cunnison forecasts will result from the Panel Order.

In this case, and the impetus behind the Panel Order, Cunnison never filed a single motion to compel against Petitioners. Cunnison filed several motions to compel against defendant Jacuzzi, and is obviously familiar with the process, but never once filed a motion against Petitioners. As a necessary consequence, Petitioners never violated any discovery order, which fact the Panel acknowledged when it held "Indeed, the district court failed to identify any order petitioners violated that would justify sanctions under NRCP 16.1." See Panel Order, p. 4.

Cunnison argues that reconsideration is necessary here because the Panel Order is inconsistent with *Bahena I*. Cunnison entirely misrepresents the holding in *Bahena I* and there is absolutely no inconsistency between that case and the Panel Order.

Bahena I involved a rollover accident that was allegedly the result of a Goodyear tire separating from the vehicle. Bahena I, 126 Nev. at 246, 235 P.3d at 594. Three weeks before the close of discovery, "Bahena filed a second motion to compel for sanctions seeking better responses to interrogatories and to require an index matching the discovery documents." Id (emphasis added). The discovery

commissioner issued a written order for Goodyear to create the requested index, and the district court approved the discovery commissioner's findings and recommendations. *Id*.

A second dispute arose when Bahena noticed the deposition of a Goodyear representative. *Id.* Goodyear moved for a protective order, and at the hearing, the discovery commissioner "*recommended in writing*" that the deposition go forward. *Id.* (emphasis added). Goodyear did not request the discovery commissioner stay that ruling pursuant to EDCR 2.34(e) and failed to produce a witness for the noticed deposition. *Id.* at 250, 235 P.3d at 597. Thereafter, the district court "entered its order approving the discovery commissioner's recommendations retroactive to the December 14, 2006, hearing date." *Id.* at 247, 235 P.3d at 595.

Bahena then filed a motion for sanctions "based on Goodyear's unverified interrogatory responses and boilerplate or proprietary and trade-secret objections." *Id.* At the hearing of that motion, the court also addressed Goodyear's objections to the report and recommendation of the discovery commissioner regarding the deposition of a Goodyear representative, and sustained its prior order approving the recommendations. *Id.* The district court struck Goodyear's answer "for sanctions based upon discovery abuses." *Id.*

The Court in *Bahena I* only supported the district court's sanction order after violation of *multiple written discovery orders* by the discovery commissioner, which were a ratified by the district court. Despite this, Cunnison argues the Court's

 statements that "[a] ruling by the discovery commissioner is effective and must be complied with for discovery purposes once it is made, orally or written, unless the party seeks a stay of the ruling pending review by the district court", render *Bahena* I is inconsistent with the Panel Order. En Banc Petition, p. 9 (citing 126 Nev. at 250-51, 235 P.3d at 597.)

Cunnison latches on to this language and relies on it alone to suggest that the instant case is inconsistent with *Bahena I* even though the district court only struck the defendant's answer in *Bahena I* after it found that Goodyear had violated multiple written discovery orders recommended by the discovery commissioner and approved by the district court. Those discovery orders were issued pursuant to NRCP 16.3, and only then because the moving party had filed a motion to compel against the defendant.

Bahena I is clearly distinguishable from the current case as Cunnison never filed a single motion to compel against Petitioners. Not one. And no discovery order was ever entered against Petitioners, as was held by the Panel of this Court. The district court never cited to any violation of any discovery order prior to issuing sanctions here, whereas in Bahena I, there were multiple discovery orders issued by the discovery commissioner, ratified by the district court, and then violated by the defendant. The circumstances of the two cases are entirely dissimilar and distinguishable.

27 | 28 |

Nonetheless, this is Cunnison's primary argument for reconsideration. Cunnison identified a minute order of the court, suggesting that it could be considered a 'discovery order' for purposes of NRCP 16.1. However, as the Panel correctly held, such a minute order "is ineffective for any purpose" (citing *Rust v. Clark Cty. Sch. Dist.*, 103 Nev. 686, 689, 747 P.2d 1380, 1382 (1987)), particularly for purposes of imposing sanctions under NRCP 16.1(e)(3). *See* Panel Order, p. 4. Moreover, the Panel held that such an order was not issued pursuant to NRCP 16.3 as required by NRCP 16.1(e)(3) and significantly, "the district court did not find that it was a facially clear discovery order that petitioners disobeyed." *Id.*

Thus, not only is the order relied upon by Cunnison not 'effective for any purpose', it was not issued pursuant to NRCP 16.3; the district court did not even mention such an order in its sanctioning order; and clearly did not rely on any alleged violation of that order to issue the sanctions. Cunnison's reliance on that minute order, and its argument regarding inconsistency with *Bahena I*, are entirely misplaced and meritless. The plain language of NRCP 16.1(e)(3) only permits sanctions where a party violates an order issued pursuant to NRCP 16.3. No such order was ever issued, much less violated, and there is no acceptable basis for en banc reconsideration of Cunnison's En Banc Petition. This Honorable Court should DENY Cunnison's En Banc Petition.

///

///

2. The Panel's Order Does Not Involve a Substantial Public Policy Issue.

There is no issue of public policy presented here, much less a 'substantial' issue which would warrant reconsideration. Cunnison argues the Panel Order "encourages other litigants to withhold relevant evidence" and "encourages a "cat and mouse" game that, as this case illustrates, can go on for years." *See* En Banc Petition for Reconsideration, p. 16. Cunnison ignores the fact that the Panel Order interpreted the plain language of the district court's Order and applied the clear and unambiguous Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure, and relevant case law.

Even Cunnison admits, "[h]ere, the district court struck firstSTREET's Answer because of repeated, egregious, willful violations of NRCP 16.1." See En Banc Petition for Reconsideration, p. 17. This comports with the district court's Minute Order re Sanctions:

Accordingly, pursuant to NRCP 16.1(e)(3), the Court strikes First Street's Answer as to liability...

See December 28, 2020 Minute Order, p.1 (PA1005)(emphasis added). It also comports with the Sanctioning Order, where the court clearly stated:

Accordingly, pursuant to NRCP 16.1(e)(3) and NRCP 26, the Court strikes First Street and AITHR's Answer as to liability...

See Sanctioning Order, p. 2:20-22 (PA1011)(emphasis added). Despite the clear language of the Minute Order, and Sanctioning Order drafted by Cunnison's own counsel, Cunnison then argues the district court relied on several other bases for

imposing sanctions. The Panel of the Court rejected that argument given the above-cited language of the Orders, and noted that "NRCP 16.1(e)(3) is the only rule the district court relied on as a basis for imposition of sanctions in its order." See Panel Order, p. 4, n. 2.

Nonetheless, Cunnison then argues the "panel overlooked the Sanction Order's express language stating that the sanctions were being imposed pursuant to multiple bases in addition to NRCP 16.1(e)(3)." See En Banc Petition for Reconsideration, p. 18. This argument is baseless, and is the exact same argument made in Cunnison's Answering Brief to Petition for a Writ of Mandamus (see Cunnison's Answering Brief, pp. 26-29), and Petition for Rehearing. See Petition for Rehearing, pp. 5-11. Moreover, Cunnison also argues in their En Banc Petition for Reconsideration that "even if the express terms of the sanction order are unclear, the Panel should have read and interpreted the Sanction Order as a whole to carry out the district court's intent." En Banc Petition for Reconsideration, pp. 21-23. This is merely a repetition of the same argument made in Cunnison's Petition for Rehearing (Petition for Rehearing, pp. 11-17), which argument was only raised for the first time on rehearing.²

² "Matters presented in the briefs and oral arguments may not be reargued in the petition for rehearing, and no point may be raised for the first time on rehearing." NRAP 40(c)(1).

The district court's own Minute Order identifies only NRCP 16.1(e)(3) as the sole basis for sanctions and instructs Cunnison to draft an order for the court's signature. Cunnison's counsel then drafted the Sanctioning Order and added "and NRCP 26" to "NRCP 16.1(e)(3)", presumably for the duty to supplement discovery. It is surprising that Cunnison now refutes the statement in the En Banc Petition for Reconsideration and the language their own counsel drafted as part of the Sanctioning Order to now argue the district court's justification for awarding sanctions was broader than the express language of both orders. The Panel of this Court interpreted the orders according to their plain language and drew its conclusions accordingly.

Cunnison further argues the "express language in the sanction order shows that the district court relied on more than NRCP 16.1(e)(3) to sanction firstSTREET." En Banc Petition for Reconsideration, p. 19-21. Cunnison argues the district court also imposed sanctions under NRCP 16, NRCP 26, NRCP 37(c)(1), and its inherent equitable powers to control abusive litigation practices. *Id.* Cunnison, after citing the Sanctions Order, then cites NRCP 37(c)(1) in a footnote, suggesting, incorrectly, the district court relied on that rule for sanctions. *Id.*, p. 19 fn. 25.

What the En Banc Petition for Reconsideration ignores is that the rest of the argument in that section of the Sanctioning Order cited to NRCP 16.1(e)(3), and incorrectly assumed that sanctions could be imposed even without violation of a

discovery order, which conclusion this Court's Panel specifically rejected when it granted Petitioner's Petition for Writ of Mandamus. *Nowhere in the Sanctions*Order does the district court even cite to NRCP 37(c) or suggest that it is a separate basis relied upon to issue sanctions.

NRCP 16.1(e)(3) specifically provides for sanctions only after a *party* violates a *discovery order*, and then, confines the available sanctions to those outlined in NRCP 37(b)(2) and NRCP 37(f). NRCP 16(e)(3)(A). The Rule does not reference NRCP 37(c), and nowhere in the Sanctions Order or the Minute Order is NRCP 37(c) cited. It is disingenuous to suggest to this Court that a Rule that was not even cited by the district court was a basis for the sanctions imposed.

The En Banc Petition for Reconsideration also argues that the district court relied on the court's inherent powers to issue sanctions, as discussed in *Young v. Johnny Ribeiro Bldg., Inc.*, 106 Nev. 88 (1990), to strike Respondents' Answer. En Banc Petition for Reconsideration, p. 20. This is inaccurate. The Minute Order and Sanctions Order merely reference *Young* with reference to the factors the district court should consider when issuing sanctions, not as an independent basis for issuing sanctions. *See* PA1005. Moreover, nowhere in the Sanctions Order does the Court state that it is striking Petitioners' answer *based on* 'inherent equitable powers'. *See* PA1017, p. 8:6-9:1. There is absolutely nothing in the Sanctions Order that expressly states that the sanctions imposed on Petitioners was based on the court's inherent equitable powers.

Cunnison finally suggests, without any basis, the Panel did not read the Sanctions Order as a whole and therefore misinterpreted it. Cunnison does not argue that this point has any effect on considerations of uniformity among this Court's decisions, or is in any way relevant to public policy considerations and is therefore beyond the scope of issues permitted to be addressed on en banc reconsideration.

Cunnison asks this Court to look to the intent of the district court, to surmise some hidden meaning in the Minute Order and Sanctioning Order, implying that the Orders are somehow not clear because this Court has twice rejected Cunnison's arguments. But the rule regarding statutory interpretation is even more relevant in this context. "When a rule is clear on its face, [the Court] will not look beyond the rule's plain language." *Morrow v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court*, 129 Nev. 110, 113, 294 P.3d 411, 414 (2013).

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