Case No. 83379
IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

FIRST STREET FOR BOOMERS &
BEYOND, INC.; AITHR DEALER,
INC.,

Petitioners,

vs.

THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT
COURT, IN AND FOR THE
COUNTY OF CLARK, STATE OF
NEVADA, AND THE HONORABLE
CRYSTAL ELLER, DISTRICT
JUDGE,

Respondents,

And

ROBERT ANSARA, as Special
Administrator of the Estate of
SHERRY LYNN CUNNISON,
Deceased; ROBERT ANSARA, as
Special Administrator of the Estate of
MICHAEL SMITH, Deceased heir to
the Estate of SHERRY LYNN
CUNNISON, Deceased; and
DEBORAH TAMANTINI
individually, and heir to the Estate of
SHERRY LYNN CUNNISON,
Deceased, HALE BENTON,
Individually, HOMECLICK, LLC;
JACUZZI INC., doing business as
JACUZZI LUXURY BATH;

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

V. ARGUMENT

A. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BECAUSE THERE WAS A PRIOR DISCOVERY ORDER AND THE SANCTIONS WERE NOT LIMITED TO *JUST* NRCP 16.1(e)(3).

The District Court considered and properly rejected firstSTREET's argument that it did not violate any court order or Discovery Commissioner Order. In Section A, *supra*, as a reminder, the Sanction Order specifically cited to the 2019 Minute Order and the District Court explained all of the ways that firstSTREET had concealed evidence that it had been ordered to turn over.

However, even more, in addition to violating the discovery order contained within the Minute Order, the District Court set out many other reasons justifying its Sanction Order.

In particular, the Court found that sanctions were appropriate due to firstSTREET's violations of NRCP 16.1 and NRCP 26:

Throughout its opposition to the Plaintiff's Renewed Motion to Strike, First Street Defendants advance the arguments that they did not violate any Court Order, that they did not violate any Discovery Commissioner Order, and that they timely responded to Plaintiff Cunnison's written discovery requests. These things have all been considered by this Court in the analysis of the degree of willfulness of the First Street Defendants' actions. But the First Street Defendants substantially ignore and overlook their obligations under NRCP 16.1 and NRCP 26, which triggered the duty to disclose and supplement prior discovery responses with all relevant evidence when the relevance should have

been known no later than February 2018. The First Street Defendants repeatedly violated these duties.⁴³

Once the District Court found that firstSTREET violated NRCP 16.1 and NRCP 26, it had several sources of authority available to impose sanctions. Contrary to firstSTREET's argument, the District Court did not rely **solely** on NRCP 16.1(e)(3), yet this is the only rule challenged by firstSTREET.

1. firstSTREET only challenged the District Court's Ruling as it relates to NRCP 16.1(e)(3); However, the District Court Also Imposed Sanctions Pursuant to NRCP 37 and its Inherent Equitable Powers

In addition to NRCP 16.1(e)(3), the District Court also imposed sanctions under NRCP 16, NRCP 26, NRCP 37, and its inherent equitable powers to control abusive litigation practices. firstSTREET solely focused on NRCP 16.1(e)(3) and did not address the other basis the District Court relied upon.

The Sanction Order states that firstSTREET violated NRCP 16.1 and NRCP 26. In particular:

The First Street Defendants are in violation of NRCP 16.1 and NRCP 26 because they have not produced significant portions of the above-mentioned evidence. Accordingly, sanctions under NRCP 16.1(e)(3) **and** NRCP 37 are appropriate.⁴⁴

⁴³ PA1013:1-9.

⁴⁴ PA1015:14-16.

Additionally, the District Court exercised its inherent equitable powers to impose sanctions for abusive litigation practices. Specifically:

Additionally, in Young v. Johnny Ribeiro Bldg., Inc., 106 Nev. 88, 787 P.2d 777 (1990), the Supreme Court of Nevada held that courts have “inherent equitable powers to dismiss actions or enter default judgments for ... abusive litigation practices. Litigants and attorneys alike should be aware that these powers may permit sanctions for discovery and other litigation abuses not specifically proscribed by statute.”⁴⁵

Therefore, even if this Court agrees with firstSTREET’s argument that NRCP 16.1(e)(3) was misinterpreted, this Court must still affirm because the sanctions were independently proper under either NRCP 26, NRCP 37 or the District Court’s inherent equitable powers. Thus, firstSTREET’s substantial rights were not affected because the District Court would have reached the same result under either NRCP 37 or its inherent powers.

The Court should deny firstSTREET’s Petition on this basis alone. Whether the District Court abused its discretion under NRCP 37 or its inherent powers is not at issue here. firstSTREET does not challenge the sanctions under NRCP 37(c)(1) or under the inherent equitable powers of the Court. Thus, once this Court determines that the District Court utilized other

⁴⁵ PA1017:6-10.

independent sources of authority to sanction firstSTREET, the Petition fails, and no other analysis is necessary. Further, firstSTREET should not be permitted present any such arguments in its Reply that were not raised in its Petition. See Weaver v. State, Dep't of Motor Vehicles, 121 Nev. 494, 502, 117 P.3d 193, 198–99 (2005) (explaining that an appellate court need not consider an argument raised for the first time in a reply brief).

2. It was Not an Abuse of Discretion to Impose Sanctions Under NRCP 37 Because NRCP 37(c)(1) Does Not Require the Violation of a Prior Order

In its opposition to Plaintiffs' Renewed Motion to Strike, firstSTREET argued that NRCP 16.1(e)(3) requires a prior court order.⁴⁶ In their Reply brief, Plaintiffs argued that sanctions are also appropriate under NRCP 37(c)(1).⁴⁷ Then, contrary to firstSTREET's assertion that the District Court solely relied on NRCP 16.1(e)(3), the Sanction Order expressly stated that sanctions were being imposed under NRCP 37.⁴⁸

Under NRCP 37(c)(1), there is no need for a prior order. NRCP 37(c) states:

⁴⁶ PA0416:19-20.

⁴⁷ PA0729:9-730:2.

⁴⁸ PA1015:15-16. (“sanctions under...NRCP 37 are appropriate.”)

**NRCP 37(c) Failure to Disclose, to Supplement
an Earlier Response, or to Admit.**

(1) Failure to Disclose or Supplement. If a party fails to provide information or identify a witness as required by Rule 16.1(a)(1), 16.2(d) or (e), 16.205(d) or (e), or 26(e), the party is not allowed to use that information or witness to supply evidence on a motion, at a hearing, or at a trial, unless the failure was substantially justified or is harmless. **In addition to or instead of this sanction,** the court, on motion and after giving an opportunity to be heard:

. . .

(B) may inform the jury of the party's failure; and

(C) **may impose other appropriate sanctions, including any of the orders listed in Rule 37(b)(1).**⁴⁹

Unlike NRCP 37(b), NRCP 37(c) does not contain any language stating that sanctions can only be imposed for violation of a court order; instead, “if a party fails to provide information or identify a witness as required by Rule 16.1(a)(1), 16.2(d) or (e), 16.205(d) or (e), or 26(e).” See also, APCO Constr., Inc. v. Zitting Bros. Constr., Inc., 136 Nev. 569, 575, 473 P.3d 1021, 1027–28 (2020) (holding that sanctions under NRCP 37(c) are appropriate when a

⁴⁹ NRCP 37(b)(1)(C) permits “striking pleadings in whole or in part.”

party fails to timely supplement as required by NRCP 26(e)(1)).

Additionally, NRCP 37(c) makes no distinction between “attorney” and “party.” It only states that sanctions are warranted if a “party” fails to provide information as required by NRCP 16.1. Therefore, even if this Court accepts firstSTREET’s argument that the District Court was only sanctioning firstSTREET—the party—NRCP 37 allows for sanctions against a “party” for failure to provide information as required by NRCP 16.1. There is no requirement in NRCP 37(c) for the party to violate a prior *order*, instead per this rule, sanctions may issue, when a party fails to provide information or identify a witness. Thus, the sanctions are valid under NRCP 37(c) independent of NRCP 16.1(e)(3).

3. It was Not an Abuse of Discretion to Impose Sanctions Under the Court’s Inherent Equitable Powers Because Equity Does Not Require a Prior Order

Independent of the above, the District Court was also within its discretion to impose sanctions without a prior discovery order because it had authority pursuant to its inherent equitable power to control abusive litigation practices. Young v. Johnny Ribeiro Bldg., Inc., 106 Nev. 88, 787 P.2d 777 (1990); Hawkins v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct. in & for Cty. of Clark, 133 Nev. 900, 903, 407 P.3d 766, 769 (2017). Under Young, the District Court’s inherent equitable powers permitted it to impose sanctions “for discovery and other

litigation abuses not specifically proscribed by statute.” Id. The District Court is not bound by firstSTREET’s hyper-technical and overly narrow interpretation of NRCP 16.1(e)(3).

This makes judicial sense because entire basis of firstSTREET’s argument (that without a court order or a specific discovery request a party has no obligation to turn over relevant documents voluntarily) is exactly the bad faith approach to litigation that NRCP 16.1 and NRCP 26 is meant to prevent. At its core, firstSTREET is arguing that a party should be allowed to withhold relevant evidence **until** there is a court order.

NRAP 1(c) requires that the rules of civil procedure are “liberally construed to secure the proper and efficient administration of the business and affairs of the courts and to promote and facilitate the administration of justice by the courts.” The rules are not meant to allow a party to escape the disclosure requirements under the guise of clever, hyper-technical readings of the rules.

Finally, in Bahena v. Goodyear, this Court held that a trial judge has discretion to determine what factors are to be considered when considering discovery sanctions on a case-by-case basis; just as a trial judge has discretion to determine the factors to consider when deciding the admissibility of evidence.

In Higgs v. State, 126 Nev. —, —, 222 P.3d 648, 658 (2010), we concluded that with respect to the admissibility of expert testimony, Nevada law controls, and that we only look “at federal jurisprudence for guidance—when *needed*.” **We further concluded that evidentiary authority “allows the trial judge discretion in deciding what factors are to be considered on a case-by-case basis.”** [citation omitted] **We hold that this framework also applies to discovery sanctions.**⁵⁰

Thus, the trial judge has discretion to determine what factors to consider on a case-by-case basis and may sanction under its inherent equitable powers in addition to the other rules mentioned *supra*. There is no rigid requirement that the trial judge can only impose sanctions if and only if there is a prior discovery order.

B. FIRSTSTREET’S CITED AUTHORITIES SUPPORT PLAINTIFFS’ POSITION

firstSTREET argues that “Nevada law requires violation of a court order before a district court may strike a pleading”⁵¹ and cites to four Nevada cases involving discovery sanctions: (1) Young v. Johnny Ribeiro Bldg., Inc., 106 Nev. 88, 787 P.2d 777 (1990); (2) Nevada Power Co. v. Flour Illinois, 108 Nev. 638, 837 P.2d 1354 (1992); (3) Bahena v. Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co., 126 Nev. 243, 235 P.3d 582 (2010); and (4) Foster v. Dingwall, 126 Nev.

⁵⁰ Bahena, 126 Nev. at 610.

⁵¹ See, firstSTREET’s Petition at 14:15-15:13.

56, 227 P.3d 1042 (2010).

None of these cases held that a district court can **only** strike a pleading if a party violates a court order.⁵² Instead, these cases stand for the proposition that the District Court, as the court with intimate familiarity with the proceedings below, is given broad discretion when it comes to non-case-concluding discovery sanctions.⁵³ In fact, even when a district court does impose case concluding sanctions, these cases only state that this Court applies a “somewhat heightened,” as opposed to a de novo standard of review.

The absurdity of firstSTREET’s position is highlighted by this Court’s holding in Young, where the sanction was case-ending dismissal with prejudice, this Court made clear that “while dismissal need not be preceded by other less severe sanctions, it should be imposed only after thoughtful consideration of all the factors involved in a particular case. Young v. Johnny Ribeiro Bldg., Inc., 106 Nev. 88, 92, 787 P.2d 777, 780 (1990). It logically follows that if a district court is able to dismiss a case with prejudice without

⁵² In fact, Plaintiffs can just as easily cite to cases where discovery sanctions were imposed even in the absence of a court order. See, Skeen v. Valley Bank of Nevada, 89 Nev. 301, 302–03, 511 P.2d 1053, 1053–54 (1973); Arnold v. Kip; ETT, Inc. v. Delegado, 126 Nev. 709, 367 P.3d 767 (2010) (unpublished); Freemon v. Fischer, 281 P.3d 1173 (Nev. 2009) (unpublished).

⁵³ Additionally, Young, Nevada Power, and Foster are easily distinguishable in that in each of those cases, the District Court imposed case-ending sanctions.

first imposing less severe sanctions, then surely it can impose non-case-ending sanctions without first imposing less severe sanctions. Clearly, Nevada law does not require a prior order against firstSTREET as a prerequisite to imposing non-case-ending discovery sanctions.

C. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY STRIKING FIRSTSTREET’S ANSWER AS TO LIABILITY ONLY WITHOUT CONDUCTING AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING

firstSTREET’s final argument is that the District Court abused its discretion by imposing sanctions without conducting an evidentiary hearing. firstSTREET relies on Nevada Power v. Flour Illinois, 108 Nev. 638, 837 P.2d 1354 (1992), to argue that an evidentiary hearing was necessary.⁵⁴ This Court considered and rejected this exact argument in Bahena v. Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co., 126 Nev. 606, 612, 245 P.3d 1182, 1186 (2010):

Goodyear relies upon the case of Nevada Power v. Flour Illinois, 108 Nev. 638, 837 P.2d 1354 (1992), to support its argument that a full evidentiary hearing is necessary when an answer is going to be dismissed as to liability. Goodyear incorrectly relies on this case because in Nevada Power, the district court dismissed the complaint of Nevada Power with prejudice without conducting an evidentiary hearing regarding alleged discovery abuses. Since the district court entered its order dismissing Nevada Power's complaint with prejudice, the case was over. The only remedy Nevada Power had was to appeal; therefore, an evidentiary hearing was appropriate. In Bahena, the district court struck Goodyear's answer as to liability only, but Goodyear had

⁵⁴ See, firstSTREET’s Petition at 15:13-19:14.

the full right to contest general, special, and punitive damages. In fact, Goodyear prevailed upon Bahena's claim for punitive damages. As distinguished from Nevada Power, Goodyear was not out of court based upon the district court's sanction order. **Therefore, we decline to extend the holding of *Nevada Power Company* for non-case concluding discovery sanctions.**⁵⁵

As noted above, the Sanction Order here is not an “ultimate discovery sanction of...striking an answer *and* damages.” The title of the Sanction Order plainly states that firstSTREET’s Answer was being stricken “AS TO LIABILITY ONLY.”⁵⁶

Therefore, the District Court had discretion to “hold such hearing as it reasonably deem[ed] necessary to consider the matters that [were] pertinent to the imposition of the appropriate sanctions.”⁵⁷ “The length and nature of the hearing for non-case concluding sanctions shall be left to the sound discretion of the district court.”⁵⁸

Here, the hearing on Plaintiffs’ Renewed Motion to Strike was over two hours long. The District Court gave both Plaintiffs’ counsel and firstSTREET’s counsel the opportunity to make factual representations about

⁵⁵ Bahena, 126 Nev. at 612.

⁵⁶ PA1010.

⁵⁷ Bahena 126 Nev. at 611 (citing Bahena v. Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co. (Bahena I), 126 Nev. 243, 256, 235 P.3d 592, 601 (2010))

⁵⁸ Id.

the discovery at issue. The Court asked very pointed questions about the issues presented including the following:

THE COURT: Okay. Thank you. Let's proceed then. Counsel, it would be helpful to me if I prepared my notes while we're going through this with particular facts identified to me in short statements that I can put into like one page sheets that I am working on.

Well, let me explain it this way. What I would like to do is for the top five pieces of evidence, Mr. Cloward, for you to identify what the piece of evidence at issue is, --

MR. CLOWARD: Okay.

THE COURT: -- and, then, the next point would be: When did the relevance of that issue or that piece of evidence become known? Next would be: When did First Street obtain that evidence? Perhaps they always had it.

The fourth piece of information I would need is: Was the production excused? And there's arguments that things might have been excused because of a discovery order, or a meet and confer, or the language used by the plaintiff in a particular document request. So, that's the fourth point.

And then the last point was: When was the evidence actually produced?⁵⁹

The Court gave Plaintiffs the opportunity to discuss certain evidence and gave firstSTREET the opportunity to address each piece of evidence raised by Plaintiffs. The Court also gave the parties the opportunity to address Plaintiffs' Motion to Strike as a whole. The Court also considered extensive briefing,

⁵⁹ PA0926:12-927:7.

exhibits, and affidavits as well as the entire history of the case. The Court stated:

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